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The work investigates the modern directions of the development of fiscal policy from the standpoint of theory,
methodology, practice. It systemizes scientific approaches to the economic essence and the author's definition of
fiscal policy characterized by a set of state measures to implement the concept of fiscal regulation of economic
entities, providing revenue generation and financing of budget expenditures at all levels for sustainable socio-
economic development. Further development of theoretical and methodological principles allowed to substantiate
the conceptual basis of modern fiscal policy in ensuring socio-economic development of the state: subjects,
objects, types of fiscal policy, functions, goals, objectives, principles, criteria, a fiscal mechanism (methods,
levers, incentives, forms, tools, sanctions). The factors influencing the implementation of fiscal policy in Ukraine
were systematized, i.e. economic, social, institutional, informational, gender, cultural, and spiritual. The work
widely discloses information tools of digitalization, which allows the implementation of fiscal policy in Ukraine on
the principles of transparency and digitalization. Despite the positive trends in the system of formation of state
budget expenditures related to budget financing in priority areas of development, the analysis of the
interdependence of fiscal policy and economic growth identifies current threats to the effectiveness of its
implementation, including fiscal risks arising from under-execution of revenues, expenditures of the State budget,
high level of budget deficit and public debt. Fiscal risks for the analyzed period ranged from 0.64% to 0.11% of
GDP. Improving Ukraine’s fiscal policy in modern conditions should be aimed at building a modern competitive
socially-oriented market economy integrated into the EU, increasing aggregate tax revenues to all levels of
budgets and state trust funds; conducting a balanced fiscal policy in the medium term. The paper emphasizes that
the risk management system, used to assess fiscal risks in the budget process, should be integrated into the modern
concept of fiscal policy, and the improvement of methodological tools should focus on the increase of the
effectiveness of fiscal policy in ensuring financial and economic security.
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INTRODUCTION

Issues related to fiscal policy are quite relevant for Ukraine. They are especially evident
during certain negative processes taking place in the state and have a direct impact on
ensuring the sustainability of the public finance system. Modern fiscal policy must take into
account the impact of various factors on the country’s financial system. Accordingly, fiscal
policy should ensure the implementation of socio-economic tasks entrusted to the state.
Fiscal policy is a type of indicator and criterion of economic growth, the effectiveness of
fiscal policy, and the organization of public finances in the country. Today, fiscal policy in
Ukraine is in the process of transformation, both in the direction of formulation of new
taxes and change of current ones and the entire tax system, which must fully realize its
potential in revenue and financing budget expenditures and meet the needs of socio-
economic development.

ANALYSIS OF RECENT RESEARCH AND PUBLICATIONS
Issues governing fiscal policy are highlighted in the works of world-renowned scholars
who have studied various aspects of the impact of fiscal policy on socio-economic
development, including such prominent scholars as J. Keynes, A. Marshall, C. Tiebout,
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A. Laffer, A. Wagner, and others. Researches in the domestic scientific space deserve
attention as well: [1-5, 9-10, 12-26, 28, 30, 32-33]. Given that from an economic point of
view, fiscal policy is the ability of the state to perform its specific functions and tasks that
fulfil the needs of taxpayers and budget recipients in the public interest, further study of
current trends in fiscal policy, both in theory and methodology and practical aspects of
implementation, is necessary.

SETTING OBJECTIVES
Systematization and further development of theoretical principles, methodological
substantiation of fiscal policy implementation in the direction of research of modern
approaches to understanding the economic essence of fiscal policy; formation of a modern
conceptual basis of fiscal policy in ensuring the socio-economic development of the state,
analysis of the interdependence of fiscal policy parameters and economic growth.

RESEARCH METHODS
To achieve the set tasks the following research methods were used: abstract-logical,
grouping and system-structural analysis in the systematization of modern scientific approaches
to understanding the economic essence of fiscal policy, formation of the modern conceptual
basis of fiscal policy, and its role in ensuring socio-economic development; calculation and an
analytical method for the analysis of changes in budget indicators and assessment of fiscal risks,
statistical methods for visualization of research results in tabular and graphical forms.

RESULTS OF THE RESEARCH

Fiscal policy (hereinafter FP), which is an active element of the financial mechanism of
the state, provides an appropriate level of socio-economic development (SED). Therefore,
ensuring an effective FP of the state is a key task in the implementation of its strategic
socio-economic priorities.

To better understand the essence of the concept of FP, it is necessary to analyse its
components separately. In the explanatory dictionaries of the modern Ukrainian language,
the term “fiscal” is defined as one that is associated with taxation, expenditures, revenues,
and expenditures from the budget [7]. As for the term “politics”, it comes from the Greek
word “politikos”, which denotes a state activity [25]. The modern understanding of FP is
largely based on the ideas of British economist J. Keynes, who first used the term FP in the
study “The General Theory of Employment, Interest, and Money” and argued that
economic downturns are due to shortages of consumer spending and business investment
components of aggregate demand [18]. Mr. Keynes insisted that governments could
stabilize the business cycle and regulate the economic situation by adjusting public
spending and FPs to compensate for the shortcomings of the private sector. A. Marshall
studied FP as a relationship between wealth and people [21]. C. Tiebout has paid a lot of
attention to some aspects of FP in the context of fiscal decentralization [37]. Modern
scientific discussions of the economic essence of FP, as a rule, focus on the analysis of
changes in state budget indicators and assessment of their impact on the economy as a
whole. Although changes in taxes or expenditures that are “revenue-neutral” may be
construed as FP and may affect aggregate output by changing the incentives faced by
enterprises or private entrepreneurs, the term FP is commonly used to describe the impact
on the aggregate economy of general levels of government spending and taxation, and in
particular the gap between them. This is the concept of the economic content of FP found in
research [11].

In addition, the analysis of modern approaches to understanding the economic content
of FP has shown that there is a pluralism of opinions about the concept under study among
scientists. Some interpret it in a rather narrow sense, reducing everything to tax
management, while others — to the general regulation of the budget. Statements of various
authors on the interpretation of FP, as well as the author’s understanding of the term FP are
shown in Figure 1.

118 Bicuux Cym/[Y. Cepia «Exonomixay, Ne 1° 2022



The global strategic goal with which the state’s FP is implemented in the direction of a
sustainable SED objectively determines the priority goals and objectives of the state in the
medium term. Thus, the budget declaration for the period 2022-2024, in particular, states
[6]: ensuring fiscal stability in the direction of minimizing fiscal risks (including levelling
the negative impact of the coronavirus pandemic), improving the efficiency of tax
administration, compliance with tax rates with inflation, tax transformation legislation to
EU standards (including excise tax, value-added tax), stimulating business development,
the introduction of a new model of customs policy to EU standards, fiscal digitalization of
society and increasing the level of transparency of budget and fiscal indicators, providing
social support to certain groups.

Fiscal policy
. . v -
The set of financial measures of the state Management of revenues and expenditures
to form the size and structure of of the state budget and state trust funds in
government spending, transfer payments order to ensure sustainable socio-
and taxation system [3,13,391] economic development of the country [14]
The component of the financial activity Th f inulati bli
of the state, which is a managed system € process of manipulating public
and at different stages of economic expenditures and revenues in order to
development contributes to the influence the economic development of
achievement of goals [30] saciety [22]
The system of regulating the economy The set of financial measures of the state
through changes in government spending to regulate government revenues and
and revenues [38] expenditures [4]
v

Government influence on the economy Coordinated activities of the state in the

through taxation, formation of _the field of tax collection, financing of
"0'“”.‘9 and_structure of public government expenditures and borrowing

expenditures in order to ensure an in order to ensure the smoothing of
adequate level of employment, prevent cyclical fluctuations in the economy and

and limit inflation and the detrimental - :
. - rogressive economic development [12
effects of cyclical fluctuations [1] prog P [12]

Subjective form of manifestation of the ~ Changes made by the government in the
objective action of the fiscal mechanism, order of public spending and taxation,
as a set of methodological principles, ensuring full employment, production of
practical forms of organization and non-inflationary gross national product
methods of using public finances [23] and stimulating economic growth [10]
Using government spending and Estimation of taxation and government
taxation to influence the economy [2,11] spending affecting the economy [8]

Fiscal policy is a set of state measures to implement the concept of fiscal regulation of economic
entities ensuring the formation of revenues and financing of budget expenditures at all levels for
sustainable socio-economic development

Figure 1 — Graphical representation of the term FP, Source: formed by the authors

The implementation of FP in Ukraine will be effective only when all the factors,
influencing it at the current state’s socio-economic development, are taken into account.
Analysis of special literature allows to determine the economic factors influencing the FP
[17,19-20,24,26,28-30]: the level of economic development; employment rate; inflation
rate; national currency rate, investment climate; level of taxation, government deficit,
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public debt, fiscal risks, foreign economic activity. The social factors influencing the FP
include [17,19,20,24,26]: the level of social responsibility; maintaining the social balance
of certain groups. Institutional factors of influence are the following [21,23-24]: creation,
reorganization, and liquidation of institutions entrusted with the function of FP; a set of
normative legal acts regulating the process of formation and implementation of FP. The
information factors of influence include modern information and analytical databases built
on Internet technologies. Classification of digital tools used in Ukraine, which directly or
indirectly affect the process of formation and implementation of FP, are disclosed in the
scientific work of L. Ryabushka [32]. The systematization of tools is presented in Table 1.

Table 1 — Classification of tools of digitalization of FP, Source: formed by the authors

Name / Institution providing support

Opportunities and location

E-data / Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine

The only open data platform of the Pension Fund, which is the
entrance to the portals: Spending, Openbudget, Proifi
(https://edata.gov.ua/)

Spending / Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine, Ministry of Economic
Development, Trade and Agriculture

The only web portal for the use of public funds, integration with the
electronic platform Prozorro (https://spending.gov.ua/new/)

Openbudget / Ministry of Finance

State web portal, which gathers a digital database of indicators of the
consolidated, state, and local budgets (interactive map), state funds,
the system of Budget Main Distributors Boost (BMD) — analysis of
the World Bank (https://openbudget.gov.ua/)

Proifi / Ministry of Finance

State web portal of the register of projects of social and economic
development of Ukraine, International financial organizations
(https://proifi.gov.ua/)

E-contract / Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine, Ministry of Economic
Development, Trade and Agriculture

Single platform containing contract templates, machine-readable data,
unified Open Contracting Data Standard (OCDS), PDF/A generation,
digital signing, integration with State Customs Service of Ukraine
(SCSUV) and Spending, Prozorro

Logica / Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine, SCSU

Information and analytical management system for planning and
execution of local budgets (https: //xn--21-mlcukdib.xn--jlamh/)

Prozorro / Ministry of Economic
Development, Trade and Agriculture
Dozorro / Public control of public
procurement

Official platform of electronic procurement of Ukraine
(https://prozorro.gov.ua/)

Platform containing a system of tools and services for the analysis of
public procurement (https://dozorro.org)

Diia / Ministry of Digital

The only portal of public services: e-government, cybersecurity, e-

Transformation democracy, e-business, e-court, e-health, e-education, e-transport
system, smart cities, digital skills (https://diia.gov.ua/)

The only platform for e-democracy in local development and civic
initiative in Budget Distribution (https://e-dem.ua/about_us) opens
access to:

o Local Electronic Petitions Service;

o Public Budget service;

o Open City service;

o Service “Electronic public consultations”

E-DEM / Foundation Eastern /
Europe and Innovabrige / Foundatio
(public initiative)

It is necessary to agree with the logic of the author [32] on the importance of
implementing the principle of transparency and digitalization in public finance
management, hence in the management of FP. Firstly, it fortifies trust in the Government;
secondly, it is an effective tool for public influence in the planning and implementation of a
results-oriented budget; thirdly, the use of digitalization tools increases the general
information literacy of the population; fourthly, the implementation of the FP on a digital
basis will contribute to the openness and transparency of the overall public finance
management system.

An equally significant factor influencing the FP in today’s conditions is the
consideration of the gender factor based on gender-oriented budgeting. According to
experts [9,16] in the planning and implementation of budgets of state and amalgamated
territorial communities (ATC), the authorities must simultaneously meet the needs of
different social groups of women and men. In our opinion, gender-oriented budgeting
should be applied at the stage of forming the general concept of FP when providing social
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guarantees to the population, maintaining of institutions and establishments of the socio-
cultural sphere, and developing of knowledge-intensive technologies. It is the program-
target method of the budget process that allows to take into account the needs of women
and men, and thus, focuses on the priority goals and objectives of the FP within a specific
budget distributor. Spiritual and cultural factors of FP are primarily by virtue of traditions,
customs, social stereotypes, historical past, cultural heritage of the nation. These are the
factors that determine the tax culture of FP.

Given the above, we emphasize that the modern financial system should be based on a
modernized concept of fiscal policy, which has a system of goals and objectives, the
principles of its implementation, defining strategic priorities for sustainable economic
growth, and ensuring the state’s FES (Financial and Economic Security). Study of
endogenous opportunities of social and economic development of the state based on
increasing the fiscal capacity of the state budget and budgets of territorial communities,
increasing the reserves of fiscal space of economic entities, and increasing innovation and
investment potential of the country in decentralization should ensure the implementation of
strategies for the development of cities, towns and villages, the priority development of
depressed areas of the country by Article 10, paragraph 5 of the Law of Ukraine “On
Principles of State Regional Policy” Ne 156-VII1 of 05.02.2015 [27]. It is the increase of the
fiscal capacity of the regions that should become a fundamental structural component of an
effective FP of the state. Therefore, there is a need for research and development of a
modern conceptual framework of FP to ensure FES of the state, substantiation of smart-
areas of economic development and welfare through the use of mechanisms that increase
the revenue base of state and local budgets, assess fiscal risks and analyse their impact on
economic growth, implementation of measures that intensify the development of business
structures by improving the investment climate.

Thus, the set of state measures that implement the concept of fiscal regulation of
economic entities and ensure the formation of revenues and financing of budget
expenditures at all levels for a sustainable SED should be on the basis of the modern
concept of FP. Analysis of special literature [17,19,20,24,26,29] and systematization of
scientific views allowed to form the author’s approach to the formation of the conceptual
basis of FP based on scientific methodology and practice (Fig. 2).

The fundamental basis of the concept of FP is such elements as an object, subjects of
FP, its types, functions that it performs, the principles by which FP is implemented, and,
according to which, priority goals, objectives, criteria are formed. The authors of scientific
works [17,24,26,29] note such functions of the state’s FP as fiscal, distributive, regulatory
(redistributive, stimulating, restraining, stabilizing), and control. According to the nature of
the impact on the economic development of the state, there are automatic (non-
discretionary) and discretionary FPs, which in turn are divided into stimulating and
restrictive [21]. Non-discretionary FP allows automatic changes in tax revenues to the
budget through increased costs or reduced taxes. Discretionary FP is characterized by
changes in government spending for economic growth. As for the stimulating FP, it
increases demand through declining revenues and rising expenditures, and restrictive — on
the contrary [21].

The priority goals and objectives of fiscal policy objectively correspond to the strategic
goals of the state’s development in the medium term. Therefore, the implementation of the
FP should be based on the principles that facilitate the performance of its functions and
apply the type of FP (stimulating, restrictive or discretionary), which corresponds to the
current stage of cyclical fluctuations of the economy. The author’s approach in the
research [26] to the distribution of the principles of FP is compelling. The principles of
incentive FP are systematized separately and include: the principle of tax efficiency (the
availability of instruments in the tax mechanism that stimulate economic growth);
systematic and internal integrity (interrelation of key tax indicators); sufficiency (providing
sufficient revenues to finance budget expenditures); tax capacity and a single tax (creation
of a single tax depending on the level of welfare); equality of arms (the obligation to pay
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the tax is set for all taxpayers); stability in taxation (establishing a tax system for several
years). The research separately proposes the principles of forming a restrictive FP [26]:
flexibility of taxation (tax mechanism may change according to the needs of the state); the
principle of multiple taxes (interrelation of existing taxes); the inevitability of liability (in
case of violation of the law) and neutrality of taxation (taxes do not affect the
competitiveness of their payer). Logical analysis of the principles of FP proposed in the
scientific literature [20,21,24,26], as well as the research topic, allows identifying the
following principles of FP in ensuring FES of the state: general taxation, non-fiscal
discrimination, fiscal sufficiency, economic feasibility, efficiency and effectiveness, fiscal
stability, justice and objectivity, publicity and transparency.
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Figure 2 — Modern view of the conceptual basis of the FP in terms of providing the SED of

the state
Source: formed by the authors on the basis 20,21,24,26

It should be noted that a powerful element of the modern concept of FP is the fiscal
mechanism, which is a part of the budgetary and financial mechanism of the state. As might
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be expected, an effective fiscal mechanism provides a set of such fiscal methods, forms,
levers, tools, incentives, sanctions that will provide financial support for sustainable socio-
economic development in the country. Thus, the analysis of scientific papers [21,24]
allowed us to identify the methods of FP, which include budget planning, forecasting,
programming, regulation, normalization, and control. We fully agree with the conclusions
of scientists [7,8] that in contrast to the methods, forms of budget implementation, and
hence, the fiscal mechanism associated with the movement of the budget fund, in particular,
revenue mobilization, expenditure financing, redistribution of funds in the system of
intergovernmental relations, it is impossible to use methods and forms without appropriate
levers, such as budget revenues and expenditures, intergovernmental, official transfers, etc.
In turn, each of the levers is endowed with a set of tools. The instruments include
[17,19,21,24,26]: elements of taxes, depreciation rates, expenses, tax rates, mandatory fees,
non-tax payments; wage rates; amounts of scholarships, social benefits; interest on loans,
interest and other fees for the use of government loans, etc. Also, a specific role in the fiscal
mechanism is played by incentives, which include [11,14,17,19,20,24]: tax benefits, budget
loans, financial support and assistance, financing of certain types of expenditures, and
more. At the same time, any system of incentives involves the application of economic
sanctions. Therefore, sanctions apply to all types of liability for violations of fiscal, budget,
customs legislation.

Improving Ukraine’s FP in modern conditions should be aimed at building a modern
competitive socially-oriented market economy integrated into the EU, increasing aggregate
tax revenues to all levels of budgets and state trust funds; conducting a balanced fiscal
policy in the medium term [17]. The implementation of the above is possible only if the
implementation of a balanced state fiscal policy is aimed at achieving a balance of interests
of the state and taxpayers. Therefore, to determine the level of impact of FP on economic
growth, we should mention the effect of A. Laffer. It was A. Laffer who emphasized that an
increase in taxation leads to a decrease in interest in productive activities and a reduction in
tax payments [21]. Reductions in payments lead to underfunding of budget expenditures,
increasing the deficit and public debt.

To determine the relationship between FP and the socio-economic development of the
country, we analysed the structural indicators of the state budget according to [15,31,34-
36]. Thus, the share of budget revenues and expenditures in GDP characterizes the degree
of state influence on distribution processes and socio-economic development. It should be
noted that for the period from 2010 to 2020 the share of redistribution of GDP by income
ranged from a minimum of 21.68% in 2010 to a maximum of 26.73% in 2015, while the
average annual level of this indicator in Ukraine was 24.6% of GDP. In turn, the average
share of State budget expenditures in GDP during the analysis period was at the level of
20.35% and shows the positive consequences of fiscal decentralization in the country.

The analysis of revenue indicators of the State Budget of Ukraine (excluding
intergovernmental transfers) for the period 2010-2020 showed a clear trend of their growth
in absolute terms. At the same time, the average growth rates of planned and actual
indicators of total income for the analysis period were 16% and 17%, respectively,
compared to the previous period, except for 2013, which showed a decrease in both
absolute and relative indicators of the level of centralization of government revenues
through GDP. However, to assess the financial risks on the revenues of the State budget, it
is necessary to analyse the level of implementation of targets. In general, it should be noted
that the overfulfilment of planned budget revenues was observed in 2011 in the amount of
1251.3 million UAH, or 0.10% of GDP, the number of budget resources increased by
3684.5 million UAH, or 0.19% of GDP in 2015. The largest overfulfilment occurred in
2020 — by 8,828.1 million UAH, or 0.21% of GDP. In the remaining years, the planned
indicators of the revenue side of the State Budget were not met, which indicates the
inability of the state to generate the necessary funds to meet its obligations. This situation
may also indicate imperfections in the system of budget planning and forecasting of
revenue sources (Fig. 3).
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Figure 3 — Dynamics of State Budget revenues for the period 2010-2020,
Source: formed by the authors on the basis 15,31,34-36

It should be noted that in the structure of state budget revenues on average for the
period 2010-2020, 79% are tax revenues. Assessing the fiscal risks of filling the budget
with tax revenues, it is necessary to note the following situation regarding the
implementation of targets. Thus, 7 years out of 11 analysed periods were characterized by
negative trends in the implementation of targets. At the same time, the state failed to
receive taxes of 36,438.8 million UAH, or 2.56% of GDP, in 2012 and 46,952.4 million
UAH, or 1.18% of GDP, in 2019. The shortfall in tax revenues in 2019 indicates the
negative impact of financial risks due to the COVID-19 pandemic, economic downturn,
rising unemployment, inflation, and more. However, in 2020 we note a positive dynamics
of tax revenues to the State budget at the level of 24,851.7 million UAH, which indicates,
first of all, the adjustment of targets taking into account the effects of severe quarantine
restrictions in a global pandemic economic activity (Fig. 4).
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Figure 4 — Dynamics of direct and indirect taxes to the state budget f

or the period 2010-2020
Source: formed by the authors on the basis 15,31,34-36

Despite the positive trends in the system of State budget expenditures related to the
implementation of budget financing by the priority areas of development of the country, it
is necessary to note significant financial risks associated with underfunding by
targets (Fig. 5).
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and their deviations
Source: formed by the authors on the basis [15,31,34-36]

It is also interesting to mention the law of A. Wagner. In the modern interpretation,
Wagner’s law acquires the following meaning: the growth of gross domestic product is
accompanied by accelerated growth of government spending. In the scientific works of
foreign economists R. Armi and R. Rana, it is proposed to take into account the Armi-Rana
effect, according to which the positive effect of increasing government spending on GDP
growth is observed until reaching some optimal value of the state budget share in GDP.
This effect can be represented as a parabolic function with its characteristic maximum point
(Scully point) [5].
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Figure 6 — Visualization of A. Wagner ’s law
Source: formed by the authors on the basis [15,31,34-36]

The data obtained in Figure 6 show that there is a relation between the share of State
budget expenditures in GDP and the growth rate of GDP. It can be concluded that when the
share of public expenditures in GDP exceeds the point of 20.26%, Ukraine’s GDP growth
rate decreases. The maximum value of Ukraine’s GDP growth was achieved in 2015, the
minimum value at 4.31% in 2013, while the share of State budget expenditures in GDP was
19.63%.

Therefore, an essential part of analysis and assessment of the relationship between fiscal
policy and socio-economic development is to take into account fiscal risks (shocks).
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Indeed, fiscal risks in terms of government coverage for natural disasters, emergencies, and
other force majeure circumstances have a significant negative impact on the fiscal stability
of the budget system.

As the authors of the study [33] rightly point out, each country wants to have a
systematic view of financial risk management in public finance based on probability and, if
possible, assessment of potential fiscal losses. Given that the methodology for assessing
fiscal risks in Ukraine has been introduced since 2018, we emphasize the dynamics of state
budget indicators that have led to fiscal risks in recent years. Thus, the most striking period
for assessing fiscal risks was 2016-2020. The dynamics of fiscal risk indicators are
calculated according to [15,31,34-36] and are presented in Table 2.

Table 2 — Dynamics of fiscal risks of the State Budget of Ukraine for 2016-2020 Source:
formed by the authors on the basis 15,31,34-36

Indicator 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Revenue plan, % of GDP 26,50 26,71 26,61 14,33 25,45
Income fact,% of GDP 25,86 26,60 26,08 14,10 25,66
Fiscal income risks,% of GDP -0,64 -0,11 -0,53 -0,23 0,21
Expenditure plan,% of GDP 29,73 29,18 29,05 28,40 32,25
Expenditures fact,% of GDP 28,74 28,14 27,70 27,05 30,71
Fiscal risks of expenditures,% of GDP -0,99 -1,04 -1,35 -1,35 -1,54
Government deficit,% of GDP -2,94 -1,60 -1,66 -1,96 -5,18
Public debt,% of GDP 8169 71,80 61 60,90 50,20 60,80

Thus, fiscal risks for the analysed period ranged in income in the range of 0.64-0.11%
of GDP. The greatest value since 2016, with a positive value of fiscal risk (as the difference
between plan and fact), was in 2020. The dynamics of fiscal risks by expenditures had a
negative trend, indicating the low quality of planning and forecasting of fiscal and fiscal
policy indicators. The indicators of the state deficit have almost doubled; the rather high
level of the state debt is characterized by the lack of an effective fiscal policy in ensuring
the state’s FES.

Summing up, we note that the risk management system for assessing fiscal risks in the
budget process should be, in our opinion, integrated into the tools of the modern concept of
FP, and improving methodological tools should focus on improving the effectiveness of FP
in ensuring FES in the state, namely: balancing revenues and expenditures of the state
budget, the effective use of financial resources in the performance of state functions by
maintaining the fiscal stability of the budget system to the impact of threats.

CONCLUSIONS

The study systematizes scientific views on the economic essence of FP and proposes its
author’s understanding as a set of state measures to implement the concept of fiscal
regulation of economic entities providing revenue generation and financing of budget
expenditures at all levels for sustainable socio-economic development. It is noted that the
global strategic goal with which the state’s FP is implemented in the direction of
sustainable socio-economic development objectively determines the priority goals and
objectives of the state in the medium term. Implementation of FP in Ukraine will be
effective if all factors influencing it at the current stage of socio-economic development of
the state are taken into account: economic, social, institutional, gender, informational,
spiritual, and cultural.

The study proposes a modern view of the conceptual basis of fiscal policy as well. The
fundamental basis of the concept of FP is such elements as object, subjects of FP, its types,
functions, principles, due to which the implementation of FP and, according to which, the
priority goals, objectives, criteria are formed. An active element of the FP is the fiscal
mechanism. The work outlines the role of FP in ensuring FES of the state. Thus, the FP in
providing the state’s FES is a special state of the government’s solvency, which guarantees
the following: balance of revenues and expenditures of the state budget and ATC budgets;
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effective use of financial resources of the budget system in the performance of state and
local self-government functions (public security, international activities, financing of
science, education, culture and health; national security and defence, investment and
environmental policy) by supporting fiscal sustainability of the budget system to the impact
of threats.

To determine the relationship between FP and the socio-economic development of the
country, the paper analyses the structural indicators of the state budget. Despite the positive
trends in the system of formation of state budget expenditures related to the implementation
of budget financing by the priority areas of development of the country, it is necessary to
note significant financial risks associated with underfunding by targets. Fiscal risks for the
analysed period ranged from 0.64% to 0.11% of GDP. Their greatest importance, with a
positive value of fiscal risk (as the difference between plan and fact), were in 2020. The
dynamics of fiscal risks by expenditures had a negative trend, indicating the low quality of
planning and forecasting of fiscal policy indicators. The indicators of the state deficit have
almost doubled; the rather high level of the state debt is characterized by the lack of an
effective fiscal policy in ensuring the state’s FES. Summing up, we note that the risk
management system for assessing fiscal risks in the budget process should be, in our
opinion, integrated into the tools of the modern concept of FP, and improving
methodological support should focus on improving the effectiveness of FP.

AHOTANIA

Paoywrxa JLb., [Jlexmap H.A., FOciox A.M. Cy4acHi TeHneHnii po3BHTKY (pickaabHOI MoJiTHKN B YKpaiHi:
Teopisi, METO10JI0Tisl, MPAKTHKA.

B pobomi docnidoiceni cyuacui Hanpsamku po3eumky QIcKanrbHoi noximuxu 3 no3uyii meopii, Memooonoaii,
npaxmuku. Cucmemamuso8aHi HAyKogi NioXoou 00 eKOHOMIYHOI CYMHOCMI [ 3anpONOHOBAHO ABMOPCbKe
BUBHAYEHHS (DICKANLHOI NONIMUKU, WO XAPAKMEPUYEMbC CYKYRHICMIO 3aX00i6 Oepicasu wjodo peanizayii
Konyenyii QhickanbHo2o pezyniosants OislbHOCMi Cy6 '€Kmi6 20CnO0apiosanis, wo 3abes3neuye opmyeants
00x00i8 [ iHAHCYBAHHS 6UOAMKIE DIOOJCEMI8 BCIX PIBHIE 3 MEMOIO CMANIO20 COYIANLHO-EKOHOMIYHO20 PO3GUMKY.
TTooanvuiuii po36umMox meopemuyHux ma MemoOON0IYHUX 3acad 003601UE OOIPYHMYEAMU KOHYENMYAlbHY
OCHOBY CYYACHOI (icKaNbHOI NOMMUKYU Y 3a0e3NeUeHHi COYianbHO-eKOHOMIUHO20 PO3GUNIKY 0epaicasu. cyo ekmil,
00 ’ekmu, 6uou (HicCKAIbHOI NONIMUKU, (DYHKYIL, Memy, 3a60aHHs, NPUHYUNU, Kpumepii, (DiCKAIbHULL MexaHizm
(memoou, eadiceni, cmumyau, opmu, iHcmpymenmu, cankyii). Takooc Oyau cucmemamus308ani gakmopu, wo
BNIUBAIOMb HA peanizayito QICKarbHOI NoNimuKy 6 YKpaini: eKOHOMIYHI, coyianbHi, IHcmumyyiiti, inghopmayiiimi,
2eHOEPHi,  KVIbmypHO-0yX06Hui. Lllupoko posxkpumi iHGopmayitini  iHcmpymenmu — Oudxicumanizayii, —sKi
00360J110Mb Peanizogysamu QIiCKalbHy ROMIMUKY 68 YKpaini Ha NPUHYUNAax mpancnapeHmHocmi ma yugposizayii.
Hesgaorcarouu na nosumueni menoenyii 6 cucmemi (popmy8anHs GUOAmMKI@ 0epaucagHo2o 6100dicemy, nog a3anHux i3
300liCHeHHAM O100ICemH020 DIHAHCYBAHHA 30 NPIOPUMEMHUMU HANDAMAMU DO3BUIMKY KPAiH, NPOGedeHUll aHanis
63AEMO3ANEACHOCT NAPAMEMPIE PICKATLHOT NOIIMUKU MA eKOHOMIYHO20 3DOCMANHS 003601U8 I0eHmupiKysamu
cyuacni 3a2posu, sIKi 6NIUEAIOMb HA eekmugHicmy il peanizayii, ceped AKUX Clio 3a3Hayumu QICKAnbHi pUUKL,
Wo GUHUKAIONTb 6HACTIOOK HeO0BUKOHAHHS 00X0018, sudamxis [lepacasnozco 6100scemy, ucokuil pisens dediyuny
010001cemy ma Oepoicasrozo bopey. Dickanvhi pusuku 3a ananizosanuii nepiod cmanogunu 6io 0,64% oo 0,11%
BBII. B pobomi akyenmoeaHo yeazy Ha momy, wo CUCmema pUusuKk-meHeONCMEeHMYy, KA 3aCMOCO8YEMbCs 00
oyinku ¢hickambhux pusuxie @ 6100dcemnomy npoyeci nogunna Oymu inmeepoeana 00 cy4acHoi Kouyenyii
Qickanvnoi nonimuxu, a yOOCKOHANEHH MeMOOUYHO20 THCMPYMEHMAapilo NOGUHHO Mamu QOKyC Ha NIOGUUEHHS
epexmugnocmi gickanvHol nonimuxuy y 3a6e3neuenti QiHaHco80-eKOHOMIUHOI 6e3neKu 0epicasil.

Knrwuosi cnosa: gpickanvna nonimuxa, gicrkanvhe peeynioganis, noOamKu, 00Xo0u 0eprcasHozo 6100icemy,
sUOAMKU 0epIICcagHoeo 0100ceny, QicKarbhi pusuKu.
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